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C. Griesbach, and the intellectual rigor of Judge Lynn Adelman. With this experience in 
mind, I believe that I am ready to serve as a Waukesha County Circuit Court Judge. 
 

II. Decisions by the Wisconsin Supreme Court and U.S. Supreme Court 
can greatly impact the people of Wisconsin. Describe which case in the 
past 25 years by the Wisconsin Supreme Court or U.S. Supreme Court 
you believe had a significant positive or negative impact on the people 
of Wisconsin. 

 
 In Doubek v. Kaul, 2022WI931, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the 
Wisconsin disorderly conduct statute, Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1), is not a disqualifying 
predicate offense for purposes of carrying a concealed weapon.  Doubek is important 
because, as the law currently stands, individuals may legally possess firearms even 
after having been convicted of domestic violence-related disorderly conduct, thereby 
exposing the public to an unacceptable risk of gun violence.  Thankfully, Doubek’s 
dissent and the Attorney General’s proposed legislation demonstrate a desire to fix this 
legal loophole and reduce the risk of danger to the community.  
 

   Daniel Doubek was convicted of disorderly conduct after breaking into his 
estranged wife’s trailer by smashing a window in the door, brandishing a 2 x 4 as a 
weapon, and loudly threatening her, telling her she “was dead.”  When she yelled to the 
neighbors for help, he threatened to, “let her have it.” During this time, the couple’s four 
year old daughter slept nearby.  Years later, Doubek successfully sought and obtained 
a concealed weapon license. However, in connection with a 2019 audit, the Wisconsin 
Department of Justice determined that he failed to meet one of the licensing 
requirements, namely he was “prohibited from possessing a firearm under federal or 
state law.”  The federal law at issue, 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9), makes it illegal for an 
individual convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence to possess a firearm.  
Based on Doubek’s disorderly conduct conviction, the Department of Justice believed 
he was precluded from possessing a firearm and revoked his license.   

 
     Doubek successfully argued before the Supreme Court that the disorderly 

conduct statute, section 947.01(1), is not a “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” 
because it did not have “as an element, the use or attempted use of physical force, or 
the threatened use of deadly weapon.” Accordingly, he was not a prohibited person 
under federal law and was entitled to a concealed weapon license.  The Court agreed 
with Doubek and the case was reversed and remanded.   

  
Although correctly decided, Doubek highlights a glaring omission in the 

Wisconsin Statutes.  As Justice Jill Karofsky explained in concurrence, “although 
Doubek is legally correct, this result is as nonsensical as it is dangerous.  In the realm of 
domestic violence, threats to kill, like the one Doubek made to his wife, more than 
double the risk of femicide.”  And when a domestic abuse perpetrator, who has engaged 
in threats to kill or any other type of domestic violence, has access to a gun, the lethality 
risk for his victim increases significantly.  Recognizing this deadly combination, 
Congress enacted a federal firearm ban on domestic violence misdemeanants, section 
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922(g)(9), limiting domestic abusers’ access to guns.  On November 13, 2023, Attorney 
General Josh Kaul announced legislation to reorganize the crime of disorderly conduct 
and the definition of domestic abuse so that individuals convicted of domestic violence-
related disorderly conduct offenses will be prohibited from possessing firearms, seeking 
to have Wisconsin join the effort to prevent this unacceptable risk of violence.   
 

III. Identify two or three judges or justices whom you admire and explain 
why. 

 
Patricia J. Gorence, Magistrate Judge 
In June 2005, Magistrate Judge Gorence hired me as a pro se law clerk.  The pro se 

law clerks worked for all of the judges in the Eastern District of Wisconsin, conducting 
research and writing, preparing orders and opinions, and monitoring and moving civil 
dockets.  At the time, I was a young mother and Magistrate Judge Gorence had grown 
children of her own.  She was the first federal female magistrate in Milwaukee.  As an 
advocate for women’s education and employment, and my direct supervisor, Magistrate 
Judge Gorence played a huge role in shaping me as a young lawyer.   

 
 Beyond her personal guidance, I learned from watching Judge Gorence as she 

encouraged parties to reach agreements but was willing to make tough decisions when 
they could not.  She crafted thorough and well-researched opinions, explaining her 
decisions in practical terms.  Judge Gorence wanted the parties to feel heard, and often 
displayed compassion and empathy, but at the same time kept the proceedings moving 
at a steady pace.  Finally, she treated everyone in her courtroom, from her staff and 
clerks, to attorneys and defendants, equally and with respect.   

 
Lynn Adelman, District Court Judge 
From 2005 to 2008, I worked with Judge Adelman as a pro se law clerk.  It was 

immediately clear how much Judge Adelman loves being a judge and engaging with the 
law.  Beyond his trial court responsibilities, he often sits by designation on the Court of 
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit and publishes articles about legal issues that are 
important to him.  Working as a law clerk for Judge Adelman was not easy – his high 
standards demanded much of my research and writing skills – but I am a better lawyer 
as a result. 

 
Since joining the U.S. Attorney’s Office, I have appeared before Judge Adelman 

hundreds of times, and often in connection with my most significant cases. For example, 
during the summer of 2009, I prosecuted United States v. Bowie, Case No. 07-Cr-123 
(E.D. Wis.), a week-long trial with numerous cooperating defendants as witnesses and 
dozens of wiretap intercepts as exhibits.  At sentencing, Judge Adelman agreed that the 
defendant and his serious crimes posed a danger to the community and imposed a 
sentence of 253 months’ imprisonment.  In the countless sentencing hearings I have 
had with him since, Judge Adelman and I do not always agree about the sentencing 
factors, offense enhancements, or guidelines ranges.  However, regardless of the 
outcome, I immensely respect Judge Adelman for his intellectual honesty.  I always feel 
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heard and am confident that, although I may not get the outcome I seek, he is always 
prepared and thoughtful, using intellect and reason to support his findings.   
 

IV. Describe the proper role of a judge. 
 

Wisconsin Circuit Court Judges pledge to support the constitution of the United 
States and the constitution of the State of Wisconsin, and to faithfully and impartially 
discharge their duties.  It is the proper role of a judge to follow the statutory text and 
apply binding precedent, regardless of their personal beliefs. 

 
A judge should instill confidence in, and promote respect for, the legal system.  I 

believe that a judge can accomplish this in the following ways. 
 
First, a judge must be as prepared as possible.  This means reading the parties’ 

submissions and being ready to respond in court and in writing.  It also means 
remaining present and meaningfully considering the arguments, issues, and facts raised 
on the record in open court.  

  
Next, a judge’s impartiality is critical. A judge must be committed to making thorough 

and intellectually honest decisions, and keeping an open mind until all of the issues are 
fully presented.   

 
Next, a judge should treat all those who appear in a courtroom fairly and equally. It is 

important to make litigants feel seen and heard, even though they may not receive the 
exact outcome they seek.  The judge serves all parties in the courtroom, as well as the 
public outside the courtroom.  This means getting to the heart of an issue quickly, 
making decisions, and keeping a caseload moving.   

 
Finally, a judge must be able to make difficult decisions.  Many times, the parties in a 

courtroom are at the lowest point in their lives.  Their liberty, parental rights, business, 
and way of life may be at stake.  During these especially trying times, the parties turn to 
the courts to make decisions for them.  A judge must be able to make thorough, well-
informed, and efficient decisions.   

 
 
 
 



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

AT LAW AND IN ADMIRALTY 
                                                                                                                                                             
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
   Plaintiff,  
    
  v.    
       
APPROXIMATELY $11,360.00 IN UNITED 
STATES CURRENCY, 
 
   Defendant. 
 

  
 
 
 
  
    Case No. 23-CV-706 (JPS) 

 
MOTION TO STRIKE CLAIMANT BARBIE BYERS’ CLAIMS AND ANSWER, 

AND FOR ENTRY OF DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
 
 

The Plaintiff, the United States of America, by the undersigned Assistant United States 

Attorney, hereby moves this Court pursuant to Rule G(8)(c) of the Supplemental Rules for 

Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions to strike the claims (R. 13, 16) that 

Claimant Barbie Byers filed pro se and the purported answer (R. 18) that Claimant Byers filed for 

failure to comply with the requirements set forth in Supplemental Rule (G)(5), Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b), 

and Civil L.R. 10.  Plaintiff further moves this Court for an Order of Default Judgment under 

Rule 55 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  In support of this motion, the United States 

asserts as follows: 

A. Background 

1. On June 5, 2023, the United States filed its complaint for forfeiture against the 

defendant property, approximately $11,360.00 in United States currency (the “Defendant 

Property”).  (R. 1).  The complaint alleges that the Defendant Property was used or intended to be 

used in exchange for controlled substances, represents proceeds of trafficking in controlled 



substances, or was used or intended to be used to facilitate a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), 

and is therefore subject to forfeiture to the United States of America under 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6).   

2. On or about June 7, 2023, the United States Marshals Service seized the Defendant 

Property pursuant to a Warrant of Arrest In Rem issued on June 6, 2023.  (R. 10).  The Defendant 

Property was originally seized on or about January 12, 2023, from Jarrell Jones and Barbie Byers 

at 3XXX North 40th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. 

3. Pursuant to Rule G(4)(a)(iv)(C) of the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or 

Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions, and United States District Court for the Eastern 

District of Wisconsin Civil Local Rule 101, notice of this civil forfeiture action was posted on an 

official government internet site for at least 30 consecutive days beginning on June 6, 2023.  

(R. 11). 

4. On June 6, 2023, the United States filed Notices of the Complaint for Civil 

Forfeiture of Property and served them by certified mail, along with copies of the Verified 

Complaint for Civil Forfeiture and the Verification, upon potential claimants, Jarrell Jones and 

Barbie Byers, at their last known residences.  (R. 5-9).   

5. The certified mail return receipts and the United States Postal Service tracking 

reports as to the June 6 notice documents intended for Jarrell Jones and Barbie Byers – at their 

residence from which the Defendant Property was seized – reflect that the documents were 

delivered and accepted by, or on behalf of, Mr. Jones and Ms. Byers on June 10, 2023.  The USPS 

tracking report as to the June 6 notice documents intended for Jarrell Jones at his possible alternate 

address on Swan Circle reflects that the documents were delivered and accepted by, or on behalf 

of, Mr. Jones on June 8, 2023.  



6. The notice documents that the United States served on Jarrell Jones and Barbie 

Byers notified them that interested parties had to file a claim to the Defendant Property within 35 

days of the date of the notice of the complaint and an answer to the complaint within 21 days of 

filing a claim.  The 35-day time limit for Mr. Jones and Ms. Byers to file a claim expired on 

July 11, 2023.   

7. On July 18, 2023, the United States filed a letter advising the Court that no claims 

had been filed in this action and that the time limit for potential claimants to file a claim had 

expired.  (R. 12).  The United States’ letter further advised the Court that if a valid claim was not 

filed on or before August 3, 2023, the United States intended to file a motion for a default 

judgment.  The United States served copies of its July 18 letter on Jarrell Jones and Barbie Byers. 

B. Byers’ Claim and Purported Answer 

8. On July 26, 2023, Barbie Byers filed a claim to the Defendant Property.  (R.13). 

9. That same day, the United States filed a letter advising the Court and Barbie Byers 

that the purported claim Ms. Byers filed did not comply with the requirements of Supplemental 

Rule G(5)(a).  In its July 26 letter, the United States – as it had in its June 6 notice and July 18 

letter served on Ms. Byers – again set forth the pertinent portion of Rule G(5)(a) as follows: 

The claim must: (A) identify the specific property claimed; (B) identify the 
claimant and state the claimant’s interest in the property; (C) be signed by 
the claimant under penalty of perjury; and (D) be served on the government 
attorney. 
 

Supplemental Rule G(5)(a).  The July 26 letter notified Ms. Byers that her claim did not comply 

with (A) and (C) of these requirements in that it did not identify the specific property she was 

claiming and it was not signed by Ms. Byers under penalty of perjury.  The United States served a 

copy of its July 26 letter on Ms. Byers. 

10. On August 2, 2023, Claimant Barbie Byers filed a corrected claim.  (R. 16). 



11. The United States’ June 6 notice, July 18 letter, and July 26 letter served on Barbie 

Byers all notified Ms. Byers that she was required to file an answer to the complaint within 21 

days after filing a claim.  Claimant Byers’ deadline to file an answer, or motion under Rule 12, 

was August 23, 2023.  

12. Specifically, the notifications stated that: 

The United States further reminds Ms. Byers that, under Supplemental Rule 
G(5)(b), she is also required to file an answer to the complaint, or a motion under Rule 12 
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, within 21 days after she files her claim. Ms. Byers’ 
answer must respond to each of the numbered paragraphs in the complaint. If Ms. Byers 
fails to file a timely and legally sufficient answer within that 21-day time frame, the United 
States likewise intends to move for default judgment (emphasis added). 

 
13. Despite these warnings, Byers failed to timely file an answer.  On September 5, 

2023, after Claimant Byers failed to file an answer, the United States filed a letter advising the 

Court and Claimant Byers that the deadline for Claimant Byers to file an answer had expired.  (R. 

17).  The United States’ letter further advised that if Claimant Byers failed to file an answer to the 

complaint, or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on or before 

September 25, 2023, the United States intended to file a motion to strike Claimant Byers’ claim 

and for default judgment.  The United States’ September 5 letter again reminded Claimant Byers 

– as stated in the July 18 and July 26 letters served on her – that her answer must respond to each 

of the numbered paragraphs in the complaint.  The United States served a copy of its September 5 

letter on Claimant Byers. 

14. On September 22, 2023, Claimant Byers filed a purported answer.  (R. 18).   

15. On September 27, 2023, the United States filed a letter advising the Court and 

Claimant Byers that Claimant Byers’ answer was not legally sufficient in that it did not respond to 

each of the numbered paragraphs in the complaint.  (R. 19).  The September 27 letter further 

advised that if Claimant Byers failed to file an answer – responding to each of the numbered 



paragraphs in the complaint – on or before October 19, 2023, the United States intended to file a 

motion to strike Claimant Byers’ claim and answer and for default judgment.   

16. Despite being given explicit instructions as to how to file a sufficient answer, 

Claimant Byers did not file an amended answer after the United States’ September 27 letter. 

17. As of this date, the United States has repeatedly advised Claimant Byers as to the 

consequences of failing to file a sufficient answer – that it would move to strike and for default 

judgment.  Nonetheless, Claimant Barbie Byers has not filed a legally sufficient answer to the 

complaint as required by Supplemental Rule G(5), Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b),  and Civil L.R. 10. 

C. Analysis 
 
Civil Forfeiture Background 

 
18. In a civil forfeiture action, the government is the plaintiff and the named property 

is the defendant.  Accordingly, a party seeking to contest the forfeiture must appear as a third-party 

intervenor.  See, e.g., United States v. One-Sixth Share of James J. Bulger in all Present and Future 

Proceeds of Mass Millions Lottery Ticket No. M246233, 326 F.3d 36, 40 (1st Cir. 2003); United 

States v. Funds in the Amount of $574,840, 719 F.3d 648, 652 (7th Cir. 2013) (“A forfeiture suit 

is in rem. The defendant is not a person, or a firm or a government agency or some other type of 

organization, but a thing . . ..”).  

19. The procedures for intervening in, and contesting, a civil forfeiture action are set 

forth in the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions. 

Under Supplemental Rule G(5), “[a] person who asserts an interest in the defendant property may 

contest the forfeiture by filing a claim in the court where the action is pending.”  Supp. 

R. G(5)(a)(i); see also 18 U.S.C. § 983(a)(4)(A) (providing that a person may claim an interest in 

seized property in a “manner set forth in the [Supplemental Rules] . . ..”).  In addition to requiring 



a claimant to file a verified claim, Supplemental Rule G(5) also requires a claimant to file an 

answer:  “A claimant must serve and file an answer to the complaint or a motion under Rule 12 

within 21 days after filing the claim.”  Supp. R. G(5)(b).  Thus, to have statutory standing to 

intervene in a civil forfeiture action, a contesting party must first file a timely, verified claim and 

then a timely answer consistent with Supplemental Rule G(5).  See, e.g., United States v. $20,000 

in U.S. Currency, 350 F. Supp. 3d 1148 (D.N.M. 2018) (the purposes that a verified claim and 

answer serve are distinct, and Rule G’s requirement that claimants must file two distinct pleadings 

is plain and unambiguous); United States v. $25,790 in U.S. Currency, 2010 WL 2671754, *3 (D. 

Md. July 2, 2010) (claim and answer serve different purposes; the claim forces claimant to swear 

that he has an interest in the property, while the answer requires him to state defenses and admit 

or deny the statements in government’s complaint). 

Inasmuch as Claimant Byers has failed to respond, either in substance or in form, to 
the Complaint allegations, her September 27 filing does not constitute a legally 
sufficient answer.   

 
20. The complaint in this matter sets forth approximately 30 paragraphs containing 

numerous factual assertions to which the Claimant is required to respond.  This includes assertions 

about drug-trafficking occurring at Claimant’s home, as well as drug paraphernalia and firearms 

recovered during a search warrant.  Claimant Byers has failed to file a legally sufficient answer 

despite being provided numerous notifications and ample opportunity to do so.   

21. Although captioned as an answer, Byers’ filing is actually an extremely general 

two-page document setting forth a blanket assertion that she is entitled to the currency recovered 

during the execution of the warrant.  It is not, in fact, an answer because she has not responded to 

the numbered paragraphs of the complaint, either in a meaningful or substantive manner, as 

required by law. 



Claimant Byers’ claim and answer should be stricken under Rule G(8)(c) of the 
Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions. 
 
22. With respect to the contents of an answer, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 8(b), a responding party must, “state in short and plain terms its defenses to each claim 

asserted against it; and admit or deny the allegations asserted against it by an opposing party.”  The 

Local Rules provide that an answer, “must respond in numbered paragraphs corresponding to the 

paragraphs of the pleading to which it refers.”  Civ. L.R. 10(b).  

23. A claimant’s failure to file a sufficient answer is not a mere technical deficiency 

but rather means that she has no statutory standing to continue to pursue her claim.  Therefore, at 

any time before trial, the United States may move to strike a claim because the claimant lacks 

standing to contest the forfeiture.  Supp. R. G(8)(c)(i).  See, e.g., United States v. Vehicle 2007 

Mack 600 Dump Truck, 680 F. Supp. 2d 816 (E.D. Mich. Jan. 20, 2010)(striking answers that 

neither admit nor deny the allegations but merely demand that the government prove its case).   

24. In the present case, Ms. Byers’ filing does not “state in short and plain terms its 

defenses to each claim asserted against it” or admit or deny the allegations asserted against it.  See 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b).  Nor does it “respond in numbered paragraphs corresponding to the paragraphs 

of the pleading to which it refers.”  See Civ. L.R. 10(b). Accordingly, the government respectfully 

moves to strike the September 27 filing. 

25. Additionally, it is worth noting that, where a claimant like Ms. Byers neither admits 

nor denies the complaint allegations, her answer is insufficient to constitute a denial of such 

allegations.  See id. (citing Mahanor v. United States, 192 F.2d 873, 876 (1st Cir. 1951)).  As such, 

the following undisputed facts establish the requisite nexus required for forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. 

§ 983(c)(3): 



A CI reported that Jarrell Jones was involved in the sale of controlled substances.  
He lived at 3XXX North 40th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin.  Jones conducted mobile drug 
transactions outside the residence on three occasions in December 2022.On January 10, 
2023, two suspicious drug parcels, associated with Jones at 5XXX North 35th Street, 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin were identified as being associated with Jones. One package was 
found to contain approximately 4,676 grams of cocaine.  Thereafter, law enforcement 
officers conducting surveillance observed the package delivered to the 35th Street address 
be delivered to the 40th Street address.  On January 12, 2023, a search warrant was 
executed at the 40th Street address.  Jones was arrested and was found in possession of 9.4 
grams of marijuana and $400 in U.S. currency in his pocket.  In the first-floor northeast 
bedroom, law enforcement officers recovered a Glock. 22 firearm, an open box of baggies, 
a November 30, 2022, letter from the State of Wisconsin Department of Children and 
Families addressed to Jarrell Jones, and approximately $11,360 in U.S. currency.  Byers 
was interviewed and admitted that Jones was her son and that he resided in the northeast 
first-floor bedroom. 

 
Doc. 1, ¶¶ 15-40. 
 

Because there is no sufficient claim or answer, this Court should enter default 
judgment. 
 
26. If the Court strikes Barbie Byers’ claims and answer, the entry of default judgment 

as to the Defendant Property would be appropriate as Ms. Byers would no longer have a claim on 

file and no other parties have filed claims in this matter.  See, e.g., United States v. $27,601 in U.S. 

Currency, 2018 WL 718572 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 3, 2018)(default judgment appropriate where court 

previously dismissed sole claim for failure to file an answer to verified complaint). 

D. Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth herein, the United States respectfully moves this Court (1) to strike 

the claim and answer filed by Claimant Barbie Byers under Rule G(8)(c) of the Supplemental 

Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions, and (2) for an Order of 

Default Judgment under Rule 55 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.   

 Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, this ____ day of December, 2023. 

       GREGORY J. HAANSTAD  
       United States Attorney 
 



 
      By:  s/BRIDGET J. SCHOENBORN  

BRIDGET J. SCHOENBORN 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Wisconsin Bar Number: 105396 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
Office of the United States Attorney 
Eastern District of Wisconsin   
517 East Wisconsin Avenue, Room 530 
Milwaukee, WI 53202 
Telephone: (414) 297-1700 
Fax: (414) 297-1738 
E-Mail: bridget.schoenborn@usdoj.gov 
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EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
 v. Case No. 22-CR-162 
 
MICHAEL T. SHELTON, JR., 
 
    Defendant. 
 

 
 

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S  
POST-HEARING BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SUPPRESS 

 
 
 The United States of America, by and through its attorneys, Gregory J. Haanstad, United 

States Attorney, and Porchia S. Lewand and Bridget J. Schoenborn, Assistant United States 

Attorneys, hereby responds to defendant, Michael Shelton, Jr.’s, post-hearing brief regarding his 

motion to suppress. For the reasons set forth herein, the government respectfully requests that the 

motion be denied.    

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 
 On August 9, 2022, a grand jury in this district returned a three-count indictment, 

charging the defendant, Michael Shelton, Jr., with unlawful possession of a firearm and 

ammunition by a felon, in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Sections 922(g)(1) and 

924(e)(1); possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, 

United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(D); and possession of a firearm in 

furtherance of a drug trafficking offense, in violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 



924(c)(1)(A)(i).  These charges are based on the firearms, ammunition, and marijuana recovered 

during the September 2, 2020, searches of Shelton’s residence. 

 On January 10, 2023, Shelton filed a motion to suppress the evidence recovered during 

the search and requested an evidentiary hearing.  Doc. 29.  In support of his request, Shelton 

asserts that the search was not supported by reasonable suspicion and was conducted in arbitrary 

and capricious manner.  Doc. 29 at 2-3.  On March 27, 2023, Magistrate Judge Duffin held an 

evidentiary hearing.  Doc. 45.  At the hearing, Debra Rozier and Jason Luebke from the 

Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) and Justin Schwarzhuber from the Milwaukee 

Police Department testified.  Id.  The record post-hearing evidence establishes that the citizen 

witness tip that about Shelton being in possession of a high-capacity magazine and engaging in 

drug sales provided reasonable suspicion to believe that he was in violation of several of his rules 

of supervision.  As such, the probation and Act 79 searches of his home were reasonable under 

the Fourth Amendment.  Additionally, pursuant to the execution of the arrest warrant, law 

enforcement had another basis to conduct a protective sweep of Shelton’s residence. It was 

during this sweep that law enforcement observed ammunition in plain view on his bedroom 

dresser.  Finally, the testimony elicited at the hearing established that the searches were 

conducted in a reasonable manner. For these reasons, Shelton’s arguments are without legal or 

factual support and his motion to suppress must be denied.   

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 
 

On September 2, 2020, Milwaukee Police Department Officers accompanied Wisconsin 

DOC probation agents on a home visit and probation search at Shelton’s residence located at 

XXXX North 35th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin.  Probation agents issued an apprehension 

request for Shelton after receiving a tip from a citizen witness.  According to the citizen witness,  



since Shelton was placed on GPS monitoring, there had been a lot of activity at his residence 

which appeared to be drug related.  The witness observed Shelton entering and exiting the back 

door of his residence carrying a Louis Vuitton or Gucci man bag, which was believed by the 

witness to contain drugs or money.  During a conversation with Shelton, the citizen witness 

personally observed an extended magazine for a firearm in his right pocket.  While discussing 

the rash of break-ins in the neighborhood, Shelton patted his pocket and told the witness, “that’s 

why I keep protection on me.”  Based on DOC records, agents were aware that Shelton was 

prohibited from possessing firearms and ammunition.  Additionally, DOC agents were aware that 

Shelton was placed on GPS monitoring on August 13, 2020, approximately two weeks before the 

tip, as a sentence for a fleeing conviction in Wisconsin v. Shelton, Milwaukee County Circuit 

Court Case No. 19-CF-2853.   Finally, based on publicly available records, DOC agents were 

aware that Shelton was on extended supervision for second degreed attempted homicide while 

armed in Wisconsin v. Shelton, Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 03-CF-1756. 

Upon arrival at the residence, officers knocked on the front door and, after a delay, 

Shelton answered.  Shelton was arrested immediately outside the front door.  He was in 

possession of two cellphones.  Present inside the residence was an adult female, A.J., and a 

juvenile female.   MPD Officers conducted a protective sweep of the residence for DOC agents’ 

safety.  During the sweep, ammunition was in plain view on Shelton’s dresser.   

Probation agents informed A.J. that they would be searching common areas and rooms 

that Shelton had access to.  A.J. told officers that Shelton stayed in the first-floor, northeast, 

bedroom with L.N.  Further, A.J. stated that Shelton used the upstairs living room.  Agents 

searched Shelton’s bedroom and found: 

• Two boxes of ammunition totaling 150 rounds of 9mm ammunition; 
• A bag containing 200 rounds of 5.56 rounds of ammunition; 



• A gun box for a Springfield handgun; 
• Three boxes of 50 rounds each of 9mm ammunition; 
• 37 loose rounds of ammunition; and  
• A safe. 

 
L.N. soon arrived at the scene and confirmed that Shelton stayed with her in the northeast 

bedroom and that he had control over the upstairs living room.  Officers asked L.N. if she had 

the code to the safe and she said yes.  Officers asked if she had a firearm in the residence, and 

L.N. admitted she had a Springfield firearm in the safe and provided documentation for it.  After 

she handed the safe keys to the probation agent, he opened the safe and found a handgun, extra 

magazines, ammunition, and a large amount of U.S. currency.  The firearm was a Hi-Point 

handgun, not a Springfield, with an extended magazine.1  At that time, probation agents turned 

the search over to the police officers for an Act 79 search and recovery of the contraband. Police 

officers then searched the same bedroom and recovered the above-listed contraband as well as 

identifiers for Shelton and from the basement, hidden in the rafters, officers recovered a box for 

the Hi-Point pistol. 

In the second-floor living room controlled by Shelton, officers found a hidden 

compartment under the floor containing: 

• A Glock 9mm pistol with an extended magazine; 
• A loaded magazine for the Springfield firearm; 
• Two digital scales; 
• Drug paraphernalia; 
• A humidity control packet; 
• Additional magazines; and  
• Multiple baggies containing a total of 991 grams of marijuana. 

 
After being advised of and waiving her constitutional rights, L.N. admitted that she 

shared the downstairs bedroom with Shelton and that he controlled the upstairs living room. 

 
1 A records check later revealed that since Shelton’s release from prison in 2017, L.N. purchased 
three firearms: a Hi-point pistol, a Ruger, and a Smith and Wesson firearm.  



When asked whether she owned a Glock, she said no.  When asked whether she owned any 

extended magazines, she said no.  Shelton’s DNA was subsequently found on the Glock pistol 

recovered from the upstairs living room floorboard.   

III. LEGAL ANALYSIS  

Shelton asserts that the searches of his residence were unreasonable because there was 

inadequate reasonable suspicion and the searches were conducted unreasonably. The 

reasonableness of a search is evaluated by balancing the degree of intrusion upon an individual’s 

privacy against the promotion of legitimate government interests. Sampson v. California, 547 

U.S. 843 (2006).  

A. The Probation and Act 79 Searches of Shelton’s Residence Were Reasonable Under 
the Fourth Amendment.   
 
Shelton argues that the firearms, ammunition, and marijuana recovered from his house 

should be suppressed because the probation and Act 79 searches lacked reasonable suspicion.  

As a preliminary matter, DOC officials may conduct a probation search where there are 

reasonable grounds to believe that an offender possess contraband or evidence of a rule violation 

on or within his person or property.  Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 388.22.  The “reasonable 

grounds” standard, which satisfies the Fourth Amendment’s reasonableness requirement, is not 

the same as the Fourth Amendment “reasonable suspicion” required for an Act 79 search. 

Wisconsin v. Guzman, 480 N.W. 2d 446 (Wis. S. Ct. 1992).  In Guzman and Griffin v. Wisconsin, 

483 U.S. 868 (1987), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that parolees and probationers do not 

enjoy the same degree of privacy expectations as ordinary citizens.  Guzman, decided five years 

after Griffin, explained:  

The [Griffin] court did not hold that a finding of ‘reasonable grounds’ was 
necessary before a finding of “reasonableness” could be found. It merely held that a 
search made pursuant to a regulation including a “reasonable grounds” standard was 



constitutional. Thus, while a warrantless search based on a regulation mandating 
“reasonable grounds” meets the “reasonableness” requirement of the Fourth Amendment, 
not all warrantless searches must be based on “reasonable grounds” to meet the Fourth 
Amendment “reasonableness” requirement. 
 

Guzman, at 599-600.  
 

Notably, in the order granting the evidentiary hearing, this Court found that the 

government’s reliance on Griffin was misplaced because the Griffin court did not specifically 

address the reasonableness of the tip itself.  The government does not dispute this finding.  

However, Griffin does unequivocally establish that individuals on supervision in the State of 

Wisconsin, like Shelton, are afforded fewer Fourth Amendment protections in the context of 

probation searches.  This is due in large part to the rehabilitative “special needs” of the probation 

system; “[t]he purpose of probation is to rehabilitate those convicted of a crime and to protect the 

public from further criminal conduct.” Guzman at 601. Further, Griffin recognized that, “[i]n 

some cases—especially those involving drugs or illegal weapons—the probation agency must be 

able to act based upon a lesser degree of certainty than the Fourth Amendment would otherwise 

require in order to intervene before a probationer does damage to himself or society. The agency, 

moreover, must be able to proceed on the basis of its entire experience with the probationer, and 

to assess probabilities in the light of its knowledge of his life, character, and circumstances.” Id.  

On March 19, 2018, Shelton signed his DOC rules of supervision, which were applicable 

at the time of the probation search, acknowledging that he was subject to numerous restrictions, 

including: 

• Shelton was required to obtained permission from his agent “prior to purchasing, owning, 
or carrying a firearm or other weapon or ammunition.”  Tr. 15, 20-25; Tr. 16, 1-4. 2   

 

 
2 In this brief, “Tr.” Followed by a page number refers to the transcript of the March 27, 2023, 
evidentiary hearing in the above-captioned case. 



• Shelton was prohibited from possessing “any drugs or drug paraphernalia, including but 
not limited to corner cut baggies, gem packs, or digital scales.”  Tr. 16, 18-20.   
 
 

• Shelton prohibited from being in the vicinity of a vehicle or residence of anybody using 
illegal substances, drugs, or selling them.”  Id. 
 
Ms. Rozier, who was a DOC agent for 16 years and a Corrections Field Supervisor for 7 

years, testified about the process she used to analyze the reliability of the citizen witness’s 

allegations as it pertained to Shelton’s “life, character, and circumstances.” Tr. 4, 16-23; 5, 25-

25; Griffin at 3171.  She currently supervises 7 agents.  Tr. 5, 4-6.  As part of her duties, Rozier 

reviews and approves community search plans.  Tr. 5, 14-16.  When an agent she supervises 

wants to conduct a home search, they request authorization from Rozier and include in the 

request the information supporting their belief that a violation has occurred.  Tr. 6, 10-18.  

Rozier’s role is to review the information and determine whether it qualifies as “something that 

should be taken to the next level (for final approval).”  Tr. 6, 21-25.  When reviewing a search 

request based on a tip, Rozier considers, among other things, DOC policy, the amount of detail in 

the tip, the identity of the caller, whether the information presents a public safety issue, the 

offender’s prior criminal record, and the offense of conviction that resulted in supervision.  Tr. 8, 

1-7.  If Rozier determines that additional action is necessary, she forwards the search request to 

the Assistant Regional Chief for review.  Tr. 8, 13-14.  When assessing the reliability of a tip, the 

relationship of the tipster is important.  Tr. 10, 1-3.  For example, someone who has a volatile 

relationship with the offender, like a family member or significant other, who presumably has a 

motive to get the offender in trouble, is treated with caution.  Tr. 10, 5-10.  Additionally, a tip 

that is based on first-hand information is stronger than one that is not.  Tr. 10, 19-22. 

Rozier considered that Shelton’s offense of conviction was a crime of violence involving 

a firearm, that the citizen witness tip came in during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, 



during which time offenders were not being closely monitored byway of home visits, that he 

committed a felony offense while on supervision when he picked up the fleeing case, that the tip 

alleged conduct that involved a firearm and a threat of violence, that Shelton was recently placed 

on GPS monitoring as a result of his fleeing case, and that the witness was detailed and 

corroborated. Tr. 28, 25; Tr. 29, 1.  With respect to the detail and corroboration, the witness 

identified the location of the ammunition as Shelton’s right pocket, she gave the brand name of 

the bags he used, she reported the presence of an extended clip, she was correct about him 

recently being placed on GPS, her information was based on first-hand knowledge because she 

had a face-to-face interaction with him, she had no apparent motive to lie, and she provided her 

name and phone number.   

Despite this, Shelton contends that the informant tip was not corroborated or vetted.  As a 

preliminary matter, he is incorrect that the individual who provided information is an informant.  

Indeed, courts have drawn a distinction between ordinary citizen witnesses, anonymous tipsters, 

and police informants on the other.  See Edwards v. Cabrera, 58 F.3d 290, 294 (7th Cir. 1995)(a 

citizen informant is inherently more reliable than the usual police informants who are often 

mired in some criminal activity themselves).  Here, it was reasonable to infer that the neighbor 

was an honest citizen witness when she provided the tip and there is nothing in the record to 

refute that assertion.  See Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 240 (1983).  The citizen witness was 

not a criminal.  She had no motive to lie and so her statement was more probative than 

information from inmates, suspects, friends or relatives of the accused.  House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 

518, 522 (2006); Gates, 462 U.S. at 238; United States v. Geasland, 694 Fed App’x 422, 431 

(7th Cir. 2017)(when an officer has received information from some person – normally the 

putative victim or an eyewitness-who it seems reasonable to believe is telling the truth-he had 



probable cause); United States v. Decoteau, 932 F.2d 1205 (7th Cir. 1991); Gramenos v. Jewel 

Cos., 797 F.2d 432 (7th Cir. 1986); see also United States v. Parker, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

119348, *6 (N.D. Ill. Jul. 16, 2019)(building owner’s identification of defendant reliable and 

establish probable cause for the search); United States v. High, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82102 

(W.D. Wis. Nov. 2, 2007). 

Moreover, corroboration is less important in the probation context.  For example, in 

Leatherwood v. Welker, the defendant argued that a warrantless probation search violated the 

Fourth Amendment because the tips that led to the search were not reliable or corroborated.  757 

F.3d 1115, 1121 (10th Cir. 2014).  Relying on Griffin, the Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit 

rejected this argument, noting that: 

Generally, anonymous tips must be corroborated and bear “sufficient indicia of 
reliability” to support reasonable suspicion. . .[b]ut probation searches may be premised 
on less reliable information than that required in other context. Accordingly, the Supreme 
Court in Griffin approved (under a special needs analysis) of a tip that came from a police 
officer but relayed hearsay information from an unidentified third party, was 
uncorroborated, and asserted only the possible existence of a violation.  

 
Leatherwood, 757 F.3d at 1121.   
  
 Leatherwood went on to discuss how the appeals court had previously “approved of an 

uncorroborated tip from a known citizen-informant relaying information from anonymous 

sources where those sources alleged they had been in the defendant’s home and witnessed the 

violation…and we have approved of probation searches based on anonymous or vague tips in 

other cases.” Id.; see also United States v. Tucker, 305 F.3d 1193 (10th Cir. 2002); Trujillo, 404 

F.3d 1238 (10th Cir. 2005); United States v. Lewis, 71 F.3d 358 (10th Cir. 1995).  Leatherwood 

found it important that “the anonymous tipster alleged a reliable base of knowledge—access to 

Mr. Leatherwood’s home.” Id. Thus, the court concluded, “failure to corroborate these tips is not 

fatal in the probation context.” Id.  



 Like the tipster in Leatherwood, the citizen witness in this case alleged personal 

knowledge of violations committed by Shelton. See also Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 

(2014), quoting, Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 416 (1969)(“‘[An informant’s] explicit 

and detailed description of alleged wrongdoing, along with a statement that the event was 

observed firsthand, entitles his tip greater weight than might otherwise be the case.’”).  In light of 

the all the foregoing facts, the citizen witness’ information, combined with Shelton’s history and 

characteristics, provided reasonable grounds to believe that he had violated at least one of his 

release conditions.  Accordingly, the probation search was lawful and Shelton’s motion to 

suppress should be denied.  However, even if this Court were to use the slightly enhanced burden 

of reasonable suspicion when evaluating the totality of the circumstances, the probation search 

and subsequent Act 79 search were still reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. 

Although reasonable suspicion under Act 79 is a slightly higher standard than the 

reasonable grounds standard, “reasonable suspicion is a fairly low standard to meet.”  Wisconsin 

v. Anderson, 935 N.W.2d 285 (2019).  Anderson explained that “[a]lthough it is not possible to 

state precisely what the term reasonable suspicion means, it is a ‘commonsense nontechnical 

conception…that deal[s] with ‘the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which 

reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.’” Id. (quoting Ornelas v. United States, 

517 U.S. 690, 695 (1996). Further, based on the totality of the circumstances, “[s]uch reasonable 

suspicion must be based on ‘specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational 

inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.’” Id.  

Wisconsin’s Act 79 legislation “permits warrantless searches of supervisees if officers 

have a reasonable suspicion that a crime or a violation of supervised release is afoot. The 

Seventh Circuit recently upheld Act 79 searches as constitutional” United States v. Johnson¸ 



2022 WL 102277, at *4 (E.D. Wis. Jan. 11, 2022)(citing United States v. Caya, 956 F.3d 498, 

500 (7th Cir. 2020)).  

The defendant cites United States v. Johnson, No. 20-cr-114, 2022 WL 102277 (E.D. 

Wis. Jan. 11, 2022), to emphasize his client’s “meaningful expectation of privacy” in an Act 79 

search. Yet, the defendant fails to recognize that the facts and circumstances of his case are in 

stark contrast to those of Johnson’s, which resulted in suppression after a purported pretextual 

stop exceeded the scope of Act 79. Johnson had been stopped in a Wendy’s parking lot which 

was a suspected drug trafficking location. Johnson, at *2. The official basis for the stop was 

reported to be illegal window tint on his vehicle. Id. During the course of the stop, it was 

discovered that Johnson was on extended supervision so a search of his vehicle was initiated 

pursuant to Act 79. Id, at *3. District Judge J.P. Stadtmueller ultimately granted the defendant’s 

motion to suppress the evidence finding that the officers engaged in prolonged delay of the 

window tint infraction because they were more focused on whether Johnson was engaged in 

illegal drug trafficking:  

[t]he time between when he was ordered out of the vehicle and when the tint 
meter was finally mentioned by the police—some thirteen minutes—had nothing to do 
with investigating the tint. During that time, the police patted Johnson down for weapons, 
questioned him about what he was doing in the parking lot, summoned a drug-sniffing 
dogs and attempted to get Johnson to consent to a car search by saying they had a gun 
complaint for a car that looked like the Equinox. None of the body-worn camera footage 
shoes the officer investigating the tint during this time. 

 
Id. at *3-4.  

 The Johnson court went on to find that the search was not tailored to the suspected 

violation of extended supervision and that the window tint violation did not provide reasonable 

suspicion that Johnson was engaged in drug activity. Id. The court reasoned that, “the principle 

that a search or seizure must be reasonably related to the object of investigation has been cited in 



both reasonable suspicion and probable cause searches. Id, at *6. The court thus concluded, 

“[t]his principle compels the conclusion that a search of an entire vehicle beyond the scope of the 

suspected supervision violation would run afoul of Act 79’s limiting provisions, which require 

reasonableness and prohibit searches that are arbitrary, capricious, or intended to harass.” Id.  

Unlike the defendant in Johnson, the search of Shelton’s residence was in direct relation 

to what the tip had substantiated as reasonable suspicion. It is undisputed that from the approval 

of the search plan to the probation and Act 79 searches, officers remained tailored to looking for 

evidence to substantiate the violations regarding the presence of guns and drugs in Shelton’s. 

There was no prolonged delay or ulterior motive as the defendant asserts. Since the Act 79 

search was supported by ample reasonable suspicion based upon the tip and the prior search by 

the DOC the search should be upheld: “so long as the provisions of Act 79 are met, a search 

should be upheld.” Johnson, at *4. 

Shelton also relies on United States v. Slater, 2022 WL 558097 (E.D. Wis. Feb. 24, 

2022), but that case is also factually distinct from Shelton’s. In Slater, the tipster reached out 

directly to law enforcement, as opposed to the probation department who was supervising 

Shelton. Id at *2. The tipster alleged suspected drug trafficking and firearms possession. Id. The 

Brown Deer police department then launched an independent investigation into Slater. Id at *2-3.  

Shelton uses the independent Brown Deer months-long investigation in Slater to try to set 

a higher standard than what is required under the law while ignoring that Slater’s lesser 

violations were sufficient reasonable suspicion for the Act 79 search.   While the probation 

department had been aware of the ongoing, months long, drug investigation by the Brown Deer 

police department, an apprehension request was issued for Slater only after the probation 

department learned that Slater had allegedly fled from police in Illinois on August 25, 2020, 



while having a suspended driver’s license. Id at *3. While the court reasoned that the ongoing 

Brown Deer police investigation which included surveillance, trash pulls, and reviewing 

evidence from the tipster contributed to reasonable suspicion—the court also acknowledged that 

separate and apart from the drug investigation, the driving infractions themselves established an 

independent basis for the Act 79 search of Slater’s bedroom:  

the information about the defendant’s mother’s grey Audi speeding through 
Illinois and fleeing police an hour before officers confirmed that neither the Audi nor the 
defendant were home was more recent (than the drug investigation) and was sufficient to 
provide Miller (the agent) with a reasonable suspicion that days before she issued the 
apprehension request, the defendant had been out of state without permission and had 
committed, at the very least, driving infractions.  

 
Id. at *21.  

Where reasonable suspicion already exists, officers are not required to stand by and 

watch for more reasonable suspicion before acting. See Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393, 

403-404 (2014). Accordingly, Slater’s violation of his rules of supervision related to driving  

with a suspended license, leaving the State without his agent’s approval, and fleeing from police, 

provided sufficient and independent reasonable suspicion for the Act 79 search.  Id. at 25 (“[i]n 

fact, the information about the August 25 incident involving the Audi was a potent source of 

reasonable suspicion recent enough to warrant an Act 79 search.”). Thus, once armed with 

information supporting a reasonable believe that Shelton had violations numerous conditions of 

his release, DOC agents were not required to collect additional evidence to further bolster the 

already present reasonable suspicion. 

Next, Shelton asserts that the citizen witness is unreliable he could not have engaged in 

the alleged drug trafficking without triggering a GPS violation.  There is no support for this 

assertion in the record.  Moreover, the record evidence supports a contrary conclusion.  

Specifically, Luebke explained that a common home zone the perimeter of the offender’s address 



and not an offender’s back door as Shelton contends.  Furthermore, at the evidentiary hearing, 

Shelton objected to the government presenting evidence in response to this argument.   

 Additionally, Ms. Rozier testified that the Shelton’s GPS, which was not being monitored 

by another agency, was not a factor in her approval of the search plan because she was unaware 

of the parameters of Shelton’s GPS and whether him stepping outside of the backdoor of his 

residence would have resulted in a violation. Tr. 38, 19-21. Nonetheless, what added credibility 

to the tip is the fact that Shelton was in fact wearing a GPS bracelet at the exact time that the tip 

was reported and the tipster had knowledge of that fact, which is factor that Ms. Rozier did 

consider in finding the tip reliable. Tr. 25, 5-10.  

 Next, Shelton contends that no police officer asked the DOC about the basis for the 

search.  Not only is this mere speculation on Shelton’s part, but it also demonstrates a 

misunderstanding of the law.  Under the collective-knowledge doctrine, officers may conduct a 

stop or search even if they do not have firsthand knowledge of the facts amounting to reasonable 

suspicion. United States v. Eymann, 962 F.3d 273, 283-84 (7th Cir. 2020)(citing United States v. 

Harris, 585 F.3d 394, 400 (7th Cir. 2009)). Indeed, "where law enforcement authorities are 

cooperating in an investigation, as here, the knowledge of one is presumed shared by all." Id. 

(quoting Illinois v. Andreas, 463 U.S. 765, 771 n.5, 103 S. Ct. 3319, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1003 (1983)). 

Collective knowledge also applies to information that an officer receives from those with the 

"training, responsibility or authority to make a determination of reasonable suspicion." Id. 

(quoting United States v. Colon, 250 F.3d 130, 137 (2d Cir. 2001)).   

 In the present case, the probation search and apprehension request were authorized by the 

Wisconsin DOC.  Jason Luebke, who has worked for DOC for 17 years, is assigned to the 

MCORP unit.  Tr. 49, 15-21.  As an MCORP agent, Luebke serves as a law enforcement liaison 



between the DOC and the Milwaukee Police Department.  Tr. 50, 1-21.  He works with MPD 

Officers locating wanted persons on extended supervision.  Id.  On September 1, 2020, Luebke 

reviewed the search plan, which included the citizen witness tip, history of dangerousness by the 

offender, potential occupants in the residence, and that MPD District 4 anti-gang unit would be 

present to secure the residence and stand by if weapons or drugs were found.  Tr. 67, 14-15; Ex. 

7. 

MPD Sergeant Justin Schwarzhuber was a MPD Officer on September 2, 2020.  Tr. 71, 

7-16.  He has conducted between approximately 50 and 100 Act 79 searches.  Tr. 72, 15-17.  

Upon his arrival at XXX North 35th Street, Schwarzhuber learned that, as part of the probation 

search, the DOC had located contraband in Shelton’s room.  Tr. 74, 1-5. 

In the present case, the record evidence establishes that DOC and MPD were working 

together during the probation and Act 79 searches. Inasmuch as Luebke was clearly aware of the 

basis for the search, his knowledge is presumed shared by all, including then Officer 

Schwarzhuber.       

For all the foregoing reasons, the probation and Act 79 searches of Shelton’s residence 

were reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.  Therefore, Shelton’s motion to suppress should 

be denied.  However, even if the Court were to find that the planned searches were unlawful, the 

evidence recovered from Shelton’s residence is admissible under the inevitable discovery 

doctrine given the sweep conducted incident to his arrest on the apprehension warrant.   

The doctrine of inevitable discovery provides that illegally obtained evidence will not be 

excluded if the government can prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the officers 

"ultimately or inevitably" would have discovered the challenged evidence by lawful means. Nix 

v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984).  The government meets its burden to establish that 



evidence would have inevitably been discovered by lawful means when it shows two things: (1) 

"that it had, or would have obtained, an independent, legal justification for conducting a search 

that would have led to the discovery of the evidence;" and (2) "that it would have conducted a 

lawful search absent the challenged conduct." United States v. Marrocco, 578 F.3d 627, 637-38 

(7th Cir. 2009). 

 As to the first requirement, MPD was in possession of an apprehension request, or 

probation violation warrant, that directed that Shelton be arrested.  In connection with that arrest, 

law enforcement officers were authorized to conduct a protective sweep.  Chimel v. California, 

395 U.S. 752 (1969).  Maryland v. Buie identified two different protective sweep circumstances.  

The first allows officers to look in closets and other spaces adjoining the place of arrest from 

which an attack could be immediately launched.  This may be done as a precautionary matter and 

without probable cause or reasonable suspicion. The second is where articulable facts which, 

taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, would warrant a reasonably prudent 

officer in believing that the area to be swept harbors an individual posing a danger to those on 

the arrest scene, and in this case the search may extend beyond the parameters of the first type of 

protective sweep.  Officers may take steps to assure themselves that the house in which a suspect 

is being, or has just been, arrested is not harboring other persons who are dangerous and could 

unexpectedly launch an attack.  494 U.S. 325, 333 (1990).   

An unknown assailant who attacks officers departing from an arrestee’s home poses an 

equivalent, if not greater risk to the safety of the officers as does the assailant who attacks upon 

entry.  United States v. Burrows, 48 F.3d 1011, 1017 (7th Cir. 1995); see also United States v. 

McLemore, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13335, *29 (E.D. Wis. Mar. 7, 2006).  Having heard the 

presence of another person, police are entitled to sweep the house for their own protection after 



defendant was arrested in the garage.  United States v. Contreras, 820 F.3d 255, 269 (7th Cir. 

2016). 

In the present case, the first requirement is satisfied because MPD could search the areas 

immediately next to Shelton where an attack could be launched, including his bedroom, which 

was the first bedroom next to the front door.  As to the second requirement, MPD would have 

conducted the Act 79 search absent the challenged conduct.  They knew that Shelton was in 

possession of ammunition, he was on supervision for a crime of violence, he had committed 

another felony offense while on supervision, he had communicated a threat of violence in the 

future, he delayed coming to the door, and they observed several types of ammunition in plain 

view on the dresser in his bedroom.   

Therefore, should the Court find that the initial searches were not reasonable, an 

independent basis existed for law enforcement to be lawfully present where contraband was in 

plain view.  Thus, Shelton’s motion to suppress should also be denied on this ground. 

THE SEARCH WAS CONDUCTED REASONABLY 
 

 The search of Shelton’s residence was not arbitrary which would require a showing of 

that the search was conducted on a whim as opposed to being based in reason or systematically. 

As articulated above, Ms. Rozier testified that the search was not based upon a mere hunch—but 

based upon a reliable tip from a concerned citizen reporting eyewitness observations and 

conversations with Shelton. Further, Ms. Rozier testified that there are in fact procedures in 

place, in addition to the provisions authorized by Shelton’s rules of supervision, which govern 

the DOC’s authority to conduct probation searches. Further, Sergeant Schwarzhuber testified that 

the manner in which the search was conducted was reasonable in light of the fact regarding 

allegations that the defendant was in possession of an extended magazine for a firearm. Further, 



he testified that during the search, L.J., identified a firearm that belonged to her that was not 

where it was supposed to be in the residence which caused them to continue to search for that 

missing firearm, ultimately, they never found it. Additionally, Sergeant Schwarzhuber testified 

that agents had recovered numerous rounds of rifle ammunition and had not found a rifle for 

which the ammunition would be used. Based on the totality of the circumstances, it was 

reasonable for the Act 79 search to take as long as it did and for officers to recover the multiple 

firearms, magazines, hundreds of rounds of ammunition, and pounds of marijuana.  

 The search of Shelton’s residence was not capricious; it was not done on impulse. The 

probation search was based upon the tip, and the Act 79 search was conducted pursuant to the 

collective knowledge of the tip as well as the contraband recovered during the probation search. 

This search was not conducted randomly.  

 Finally, the search was not conducted in a harassing manner. As evidenced by the record 

and previously submitted body-camera footage3, the agents and officers were indisputably polite 

and respectful to both Shelton at the time of his arrest, as well as the occupants of the home 

during the execution of the searches. There was not an excessive number of law enforcement 

officers on scene; in fact, Agent Leubke testified that there were, at most, six police officers on 

scene. Tr. 66, 10-12.  

Notably, this search stands in stark contrast to the search in Johnson as described above 

where the court found that the search exceeded the reaches of Act 79 and was conducted 

unreasonably based upon the pretextual stop. See Johnson, at *6. Further, in the Slater decision 

discussed above, the court found that because of the circumstances (allegations that Slater was 

engaged in drug and weapons offenses), it was reasonable that approximately 20 law 

enforcement officers, including the United States Marshal’s Service, were present and armed 
 

3 See Doc. 37.  



with long guns and wearing tactical gear. Slater at * 27. The court in Slater also found it 

reasonable that law enforcement forced entry into Slater’s residence by breaking down a door. 

Id. Thus the court held that, “under the totality of the circumstances, the officers conducted the 

search in a reasonable manner.” Id at *28.  

While Shelton’s case also involved allegations of drug and weapon’s violations, there 

were at most six officers on scene from the beginning to the end of search of Shelton’s residence 

and no forced entry was made into the residence. The defendant fails entirely to substantiate any 

allegation that the search was conducted unreasonably. The only factual allegation the defendant 

asserts is that the approximate two-three hour search was unreasonable. The record is clear that 

based upon the circumstances of the search and quantity of contraband, that amount of time was 

not unreasonable and the defendant’s allegation of a purported lengthy search is without factual 

merit or lawful authority; it is merely unsupported speculation. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For all the foregoing reasons, the citizen witness tip provided reasonable suspicion to 

conduct the probation and Act 79 searches of Shelton’s residence.  Additionally, law 

enforcement had an independent basis for entering the home when MPD officers conducted a 

protective sweep after arresting Shelton on the probation violation warrant. Under the totality of 

the circumstances, there was reasonable suspicion that Shelton was committing, was about to 

commit, or had committed a crime. Accordingly, the recovery of evidence from Shelton’s 

bedroom and living room were reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and his motion to 

suppress the evidence should be denied.   

Respectfully submitted at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, this 21st day of April, 2023. 
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Office of Governor Tony Evers 
P.O. Box 7863 
Madison, WI 53707 
 
Via email to GOVJudicialAppointments@wisconsin.gov 
 

Re: Letter of Recommendation for Bridget J. Schoenborn (Waukesha County) 
 
Dear Committee Members: 
 

I write in support of Bridget J. Schoenborn’s application for an appointment to the 
Waukesha County Circuit Court. Bridget’s experience, judgment, diplomacy, and sense of fairness 
would serve the people of Waukesha County well. 

 
I have been a supervisor in the U.S. Attorney’s Office since 2004, and I met Bridget in late 

2007, when she applied for a position as an Assistant U.S. Attorney. At the time, Bridget was 
working as a pro se clerk for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, and the judges with whom she 
worked uniformly reported that Bridget was a talented researcher and writer. They also explained 
that she was hard-working, smart, and personable. 

 
The judges were correct. Bridget joined our office in May 2008 and quickly established 

herself as a talented and hard-working trial lawyer. Within a short time of starting in the office, 
Bridget began taking the lead on complex narcotics, violent crime, and money laundering 
investigations. sThese matters required her to organize voluminous materials, make efficient 
decisions, prioritize tasks, display compassion when working with witnesses and victims, 
demonstrate that her word was her bond, and inspire and lead the law enforcement officers with 
whom she worked.  She did this all very well and earned the respect of colleagues, judges, court 
staff, agents, and the defense bar.  

 
Although Bridget primarily handled complex criminal matters for over a decade, in 

November 2020, she seized an opportunity to demonstrate her leadership skills and expand her 
practice area. Specifically, Bridget began serving as our Asset Forfeiture Chief.  She has excelled 
in that role, gaining subject matter expertise and flourishing as a mentor and advisor to prosecutors, 
agents, and support staff. In addition, she assumed responsibility for filing civil complaints, 
conducting discovery, and handling all aspects of civil litigation related to forfeiture matters. She 



has done an outstanding job of handling a high volume caseload, while effectively guiding a team 
of support professionals. 

 
 In addition to her litigation-related work, Bridget has been a leader on our Diversity 
Committee and has handled a wide variety of collateral assignments. She also has devoted 
significant time and energy to state and local bar associations and to civic organizations.  This 
should not come as a surprise. Bridget cares about and wants to make a difference in the 
community.  I am confident that she would continue to make a positive impact on the community 
as a circuit court judge. 

 
I would be happy to answer any questions you may have about Bridget’s skills and 

abilities.  I can be reached at   Thank you for your consideration of this letter. 
 

 Sincerely,  
 
 

Richard G. Frohling 
First Assistant United States Attorney 




